FILED Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington 1/14/2020 4:53 PM FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 1/16/2020 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK No. 98094-2 COA No. 79364-1-I

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

IN RE THE DEPENDENCY OF:

B.G.M.-S., A.M.-S., A.M.-S.,

Minor Children.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR SNOHOMISH COUNTY

PETITION FOR REVIEW

THOMAS M. KUMMEROW Attorney for Petitioner

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

S.M.-G. asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review designated in part B of this petition.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Pursuant to RAP 13.4(b), petitioner seeks review of the published Court of Appeals decision in *In re the Dependency of A.M.-S.*, ___ Wn.App. ___ 2109 WL 6837779 (No. 79364-1-I, December 16, 2019). A copy of the decision is in the Appendix.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Courts have inherent authority to enter protective orders granting parents use and/or derivative use immunity in limited circumstances. This Court has held that use and/or derivative use immunity may be granted to parents for the purposes of psychological evaluations where there is a police investigation into allegations of abuse which is the basis for a dependency petition. S.M.-G.'s children were found to be dependent following allegations of physical abuse and for which a police investigation is underway. S.M.-G. was ordered to obtain a psychological evaluation and domestic violence assessment and he asked for use and/or derivative use immunity. The juvenile court

1

refused to grant the requested immunity. Is a significant issue of law under the United States and Washington Constitutions involved requiring this Court to find the inherent authority for the juvenile court to grant derivative use immunity?

2. Does the Court of Appeals decision directly conflict with this Court's decision in *State v. Escoto*, 108 Wn.2d 1, 734 P.2d 1310 (1987), and the Court of Appeals decision in *State v. Decker*, 68 Wn.App. 246, 842 P.2d 500 (1992)?

3. Is an issue of substantial public interest presented that should be determined by this Court, specfically, to protect the rights of parents against self-incrimination in dependency proceedings?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

S.M.-G. is the father of B.G.M.-S., A.M.-S., and A.M.-S. Due to evidence of bruising and other injuries observed on A.M.-S. and A.M.-S., as a result suspected child abuse by the parents, the Department of Children, Youth and Families (the Department) took custody of the children and filed dependency proceedings. CP 483-93.

The children were subsequently found to be dependent under RCW 13.34.030(6)(b), (c). Pursuant to RCW 13.34.130, the juvenile

court ordered the parents to obtain a psychological evaluation with a parenting component. CP 385.

The parents moved under *State v. Decker*, 68 Wn.App. 246, 842 P.2d 500 (1992), for use and derivative use immunity for the psychological evaluations. CP 281-87, 363-67. On September 20, 2018, the juvenile court held a hearing regarding the father's request for immunity under *Decker*. The juvenile court refused to issue an order granting the request for use and derivative use immunity. CP 133-210, 231-37. In its findings, the court found that there was a pending criminal investigation but also found that Mr. M.-G.'s Fifth Amendment rights were not in danger and RCW 26.45.053(2) provided sufficient protection. CP 235-36.

On May 17, 2019, a Commissioner of the Court of Appeals granted discretionary review. A panel of judges of the Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court. Slip Op at 25-26. The Court disagreed with the juvenile court and found that the psychological evaluation or other parenting assessments that S.M.-G. was required to undergo as part of the dependency threatened his right against self-incrimination and, found that RCW 26.44053(2), by itself, did not provide sufficient protection. Slip op. at 7-11. But, the Court ruled that "the grant of use and derivative use immunity is solely a legislative, and not a judicial, prerogative." Slip op. at 25.

E. ARGUMENT ON WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

1. The Court of Appeals decision raises a significant question of law under the United States and Washington Constitutions.

The Fifth Amendment provides that no person "shall be compelled in any criminal case to be a witness against himself." U.S. Const. amend. V; *see also* Const. art. I, § 9 ("No person shall be compelled in any criminal case to give evidence against himself."). The privilege protects a defendant from being compelled to provide evidence of a "testimonial or communicative nature." *In re Dependency of J.R.U.-S.*, 126 Wn.App. 786, 793, 110 P.3d 773 (2005).

The privilege may be raised in any proceeding, "civil or criminal, formal or informal, where the answers might incriminate [the questioned person] in future criminal proceedings." *Lefkowitz v. Turley*, 414 U.S. 70, 77, 94 S.Ct. 316, 38 L.Ed.2d 274 (1973). The question raised in this matter was whether decisions of this Court and the Court of Appeals sanctioned the granting of derivative use immunity to address concerns of self-incrimination.

The Court of Appeals ruled that this Court's decision in *State v*. *Escoto*, 108 Wn.2d 1, 734 P.2d 1310 (1987), did not discuss or decide questions of immunity. Slip op. at 12-14. This reading overlooks the facts necessary for this Court's ultimate conclusion in *Escoto*.

The trial court in *Escoto* believed it had inherent authority to order a post-adjudication, predisposition psychological evaluation as requested by the juvenile court case worker in order to craft an appropriate disposition. *Escoto*, 108 Wn.2d at 3. But, the juvenile court limited the scope of the evaluation: "[A]ny evaluation would relate only to matters for which the juvenile had been found guilty and not any unadjudicated charge." *Id.* The juvenile appealed this decision by the juvenile court. In affirming the juvenile court, this Court held:

> A sincere, sensible and concerned trial judge was attempting to fashion the best disposition of a juvenile very much in need of all the help the system could provide. The juvenile's criminal history was such that a disposition outside the standard range was virtually inevitable. The trial court was seeking the most thorough information it could obtain to help this youngster and still protect society against an increasingly dangerous child. *The court was precisely careful to limit use of the evaluation to matters already adjudicated* and to permit presence of counsel.

Escoto, 108 Wn.2d at 6-7 (emphasis added). Thus, without calling it immunity, by limiting the scope of the evaluation, this Court was affirming the juvenile court's grant of derivative use immunity.

Similarly, the Court's decision here found that its decision in State v. Decker, 68 Wn.App. 246, 842 P.2d 500 (1992), was limited solely to its facts since it did not address the question of immunity. Slip op. at 13-15. Following Escoto, the Decker Court ruled the juvenile court had the inherent authority to grant a limited protective order, granting what it described as "use immunity" but was in reality use and derivative use immunity. Decker examined a juvenile court's inherent authority to issue protective orders and affirmed a protective order granting a juvenile use immunity in a criminal case for information about unadjudicated crimes when the juvenile, who had been found guilty of a criminal offense, was compelled to participate in a postadjudication predisposition psychological evaluation without his attorney present. Decker, 68 Wn.App. at 247. Decker recognized that the grant of immunity is normally a prosecutorial function, but in certain limited circumstances, a court has inherent authority to grant a limited protective order, which includes use and derivative immunity. Decker, 68 Wn.App. at 252. The Court found that "the trial court was

6

merely limiting the scope of the evaluation and attempting to fashion a means by which to protect Decker's Fifth Amendment rights." *Id.* at 252.

Both *Escoto* and *Decker* recognize a trial court's inherent authority to fashion protective orders, which includes the authority to grant limited use and derivative use immunity. This Court should grant review and find that juvenile courts do possess the inherent authority to grant derivative use immunity to parents in dependency proceedings to protect their right against self- incrimination in carrying out courtordered services designed to address their parental deficiencies.

2. The Court of Appeals decision involves an issue of substantial public interest.

Dependency proceedings are intended to be preliminary, remedial and non-adversarial proceedings designed to protect children and assist parents in order to reunite families. *In re the Dependency of Schermer*, 161 Wn.2d 927, 943, 169 P.3d 452 (2007). Evaluations are crucial in identifying and evaluating parental deficiencies and in determining the appropriate services to remedy any of these identified deficiencies. Thus, in order to successfully engage in treatment, a parent must provide full and truthful answers to his evaluators and treatment providers. RCW 26.44.030 requires that if a parent discloses any unreported or uncharged offense(s) against a child, the evaluator must to report these disclosures. But as the Court of Appeals ruled, this provision does not provide sufficient protection. Slip op. at 12. Only a grant of derivative use immunity would ensure the evaluation is conducted free of fear of self-incrimination. Accordingly, this Court must address this issue.

F. CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated, petitioner asks this Court to grant review and find juvenile courts have the inherent power to grant derivative use immunity to protect a parent's rights against self-incrimination in dependency proceedings.