I. IDENTITY OF RESPONDENT 

The State of Washington, respondent, asks that review be 

denied. 

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

The facts are correctly set out in the Court of Appeals' 

opinion. 

Ill. ARGUMENT 

A. AS THE COURT OF APPEALS CORRECTLY HELD, 
IMMUNITY IN DEPENDENCY PROCEEDINGS EXISTS ONLY TO 
THE EXTENT PROVIDED BY STATUTE. 

This case implicates a potential conflict between two ways of 

protecting children: by dependency proceedings, or by prosecution 

of people who abuse them. A grant of immunity may facilitate 

dependency proceedings, by making it safer for alleged abusers to 

participate in evaluations. That grant may, however, seriously 

hamper criminal prosecutions. 

When the State prosecutes a person who was granted 

derivative use immunity, the State has "the heavy burden of proving 

that all of the evidence it proposes to use was derived from 

legitimate independent sources." Kastigar v. United States, 406 

U.S. 441, 461-62, 92 S. Ct. 1653, 32 L. Ed. 2d 212 (1972). When a 

witness has been exposed to immunized statements, his or her 
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testimony must be examined "line-by-line and item-by item." The 

prosecution must show that "no use whatsoever was made of any 

of the immunized testimony." United States v. North, 91 0 F.2d 843, 

872, modified on other grounds on rehearing, 920 F.2d 940 (D.C. 

Cir. 1990). Among other things, the State must prove that the 

witness was not motivated to testify by the immunized testimony. 

Absent such proof, the witness cannot testify. See State v. Bryant, 

97 Wn. App. 479, 490, 983 P.2d 1181 (1999). 

This problem is especially acute in dependency proceedings. 

The abused child, the child's siblings, and the abuser's spouse will 

all usually be parties to the proceedings. As such, they will usually 

learn the content of any evaluations. But all of these people are 

likely to be critical witnesses at any criminal trial. It may be 

impossible to prove that their testimony was not affected in any way 

by the immunized statements. As a result, a grant of derivative use 

immunity may make criminal prosecution impossible. 

The legislature balanced the competing policies by enacting 

RCW 26.44.053(2). That statute provides use immunity for 

information giving during examinations in dependency proceedings. 

It does not, however, provide derivative use immunity. In re 

Dependency of J.R.U.-S., 126 Wn. App. 786, 798 ,r 21, 110 P.3d 
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773 (2005). This statute allows parents in dependency proceedings 

to participate in evaluations, without the fear that their statements 

could be used against them in a criminal trial. At the same time, the 

statute relieves the State from the heavy burden of proving that the 

testimony of other witnesses was not affected by the statements. 

The statute thus protects dependency proceedings without unduly 

impacting criminal prosecutions. 

The petitioner nonetheless claims that courts have "inherent 

authority" to grant derivative use immunity. This authority 

purportedly exists even though the legislature chose to grant only a 

lesser degree of immunity. Indeed, it does not appear that the 

Washington Legislature has ever authorized derivative use 

immunity. All of the statutes and court rules dealing with immunity 

provide either transactional immunity or use immunity only. See, 

!!:9.:., CrR 6.14 {transactional immunity in criminal proceedings); 

RCW 10.27 .130 {transactional immunity in special inquiry 

proceedings); RCW 6.32.200 {use immunity in proceedings 

supplemental to execution). 

In criminal proceedings, courts have consistently held that 

they lack inherent authority to grant immunity. See, !!:9.:., State v. 

Matson, 22 Wn. App. 114, 119-21, 587 P.2d 540 (1978); State v. 
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Carlisle, 73 Wn. App. 678, 681-82, 871 P.2d 174 (1994); United 

States v. Quinn, 728 F.3d 243, 251 (3rd Cir. 2013) (citing cases 

from 11 other circuits). The Court of Appeals applied this same 

principle to dependency proceedings. That decision does not 

warrant review by this court. 

B. WHEN A PERSON IS NOT COMPELLED TO TESTIFY, A 
DENIAL OF IMMUNITY DOES NOT VIOLATE ANY 
CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT. 

The petitioner claims that the denial of derivative use 

immunity presents a significant issue of constitutional law. To 

evaluate that claim, it is necessary to review basic principles of 

immunity. A person has, of course, a right not to "be compelled in 

any criminal case to be a witness against himself." U.S. Const., 

amend. 5; see Wash. Const., art. 1, § 9 (right not to "be compelled 

in any criminal case to give evidence against himself.") A witness 

can, however, be compelled to testify to incriminatory facts. For 

such an order to be valid, the witness must be given immunity that 

is "coextensive with the scope of the privilege against self­

incrimination." At a minimum, such immunity must preclude use and 

derivative use of the compelled testimony. Kastigar, 406 U.S. at 

452. 
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A person is compelled to testify if he is "threatened with 

serious penalties if the evidence is not produced." Ordering a 

parent to participate in a dependency evaluation does not have this 

effect, if the parents remain free to refuse to answer self­

incriminatory questions. Compulsion only exists if "a penalty would 

follow directly and more or less automatically from the refusal to 

answer questions." Absent evidence of a "concrete, imminent 

threat," there is no "compulsion." J.R.U.-S., 126 Wn. App. at 794-95 

,m 14-16. 

In the present case, the trial court specifically said that the 

petitioner could refuse to answer incriminatory questions during 

court-ordered evaluations. CP 166. He was therefore not compelled 

to be a witness against himself (or to "give evidence" against 

himself). Neither the federal nor state constitutions give a person a 

right to immunity. Rather, they provide a right not to be compelled 

to testify to self-incriminatory facts unless adequate immunity is 

granted. Since the petitioner was not compelled to incriminate 

himself, he had no constitutional right to immunity. The Court of 

Appeals holding to this effect does not warrant review. 

IV. CONCLUSION 

The petition for review should be denied.